

NIST Special Publication NIST SP 1323

Methods for elicitation of risk preferences and perceptions

An examination of individual and group risk preferences

Rithika Dulam Christina Gore Jennifer Helgeson

This publication is available free of charge from: https://doi.org/10.6028/NIST.SP1323



NIST Special Publication NIST SP 1323

Methods for elicitation of risk preferences and perceptions

An examination of individual and group risk preferences

Rithika Dulam Engineering Management and Systems Engineering George Washington University

> Christina Gore Jennifer Helgeson Applied Economics Office Engineering Laboratory

This publication is available free of charge from: https://doi.org/10.6028/NIST.SP.1323

September 2024



U.S. Department of Commerce Gina M. Raimondo, Secretary

National Institute of Standards and Technology Laurie E. Locascio, NIST Director and Under Secretary of Commerce for Standards and Technology

Certain equipment, instruments, software, or materials, commercial or non-commercial, are identified in this paper in order to specify the experimental procedure adequately. Such identification does not imply recommendation or endorsement of any product or service by NIST, nor does it imply that the materials or equipment identified are necessarily the best available for the purpose.

NIST Technical Series Policies

<u>Copyright, Use, and Licensing Statements</u> <u>NIST Technical Series Publication Identifier Syntax</u>

Publication History

Approved by the NIST Editorial Review Board on 2024-09-10

How to Cite this NIST Technical Series Publication

Dulam R, Gore C, Helgeson J (2024) Methods for elicitation of risk preferences and perceptions: An examination of individual and group risk preferences. (National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg, MD), NIST Special Publication (SP) NIST SP 1323. https://doi.org/10.6028/NIST.SP.1323

Author ORCID iDs

Rithika Dulam: 0009-0006-7788-0765 Christina Gore: 0000-0002-3586-6918 Jennifer Helgeson: 0000-0002-3692-7874

Abstract

Risk fundamentally influences strategic planning, investment management, and policy formulation across businesses, governments, and communities. Accurately measuring risk preferences and perceptions at both individual and community levels is indispensable for informed decision-making, particularly in community resilience planning. This NIST Special Publication explores the definition of risk, its application, and its importance in the community resilience domain, and disentangles relative aspects of risk, including risk behavior, risk preference, risk perception, and risk attitude. We delve into how risk preferences and risk perceptions influence decision-making and outline various methods for eliciting associated risk behavior. These methods include but are not limited to incentivized games and data collection instruments, highlighting the different techniques used to gauge how individuals perceive risks.

We report on various methods to measure and aggregate risk preferences within groups. Current methods are insufficient in deriving accurate group risk preferences from individual data and fail to fully address the complexities of group interactions. Addressing this gap requires the development of more refined and robust methods to ensure accurate representation of group risk preferences, thereby enhancing community resilience strategies. This NIST Special Publication underscores the critical role of risk preference elicitation, highlights challenges in aggregating individual preferences to the group level, and advocates for improved aggregation methods to support resilient community planning.

Keywords

Community resilience planning; Risk measurement; Risk perception; Risk preference.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction
2. Defining risk3
2.1. Risk preference4
2.2. Risk perception5
2.3. Risk attitude6
3. Eliciting risk behavior
3.1. Risk preference elicitation
3.1.1. Incentivized games
3.1.2. Data collection instrument
3.2. Risk perception elicitation
4. Group and community risk preferences14
4.1. Group risk preferences
4.2. Measuring group risk preferences
4.3. Community risk preferences
5. Summary and future research
References
Appendix A. Domain-Specific Risk-Taking (DOSPERT)31
List of Tables
Table 1. Example of the lottery-style questions (Holt and Laury, 2002).
Table 2. Example of the lottery-style questions (Eckel and Grossman, 2002)
Table 3. Example of Eckel and Grossman style lottery choice question9
Table 4. Example Question from Dohmen et al. [84]10
Table 5. Example Likert-style question [146]11
Table 6. DOSPERT scale for risk taking and risk perception

1. Introduction

The inherent uncertainty of life constitutes a fundamental and multifaceted aspect of the human experience. Uncertainty significantly influences decision-making at all levels, permeating both the quotidian – the preparation of meals – and the momentous – the selection of a career path or life partner. As such, uncertainty is at the very core of decision-making. Stemming from diverse factors such as technological advancements, and socioeconomic shifts, uncertainty underscores the importance of understanding and addressing risk preferences and perceptions at both individual and community levels. Given the pervasive nature of uncertainty in our lives, it becomes imperative to address its implications, particularly in critical areas such as community resilience planning.

Predicting the precise nature and severity of future shocks and persistent stressors is challenging, especially with the added complexity introduced by climate change, which brings about unpredictable weather patterns and changes in baseline conditions [126]. The long-term impacts of climate and weather-related shocks are often difficult to foresee. For instance, while a hurricane may cause immediate destruction, its economic and social consequences can persist for years. Additionally, disasters frequently lead to secondary crises, such as power outages or infrastructure failures, further complicating the situation. Public perception of risk plays a crucial role in these decisions. If a community or its decision-makers do not perceive a significant threat, they may be less inclined to support costly resilience projects, particularly when there is uncertainty about the likelihood of a disaster and the extent of its potential impact. This underscores the importance of accurately assessing and communicating risk to ensure informed and effective community resilience planning.

Much research across disciplines has focused upon the importance of risk preferences and perceptions to inform kingmaking and these are incorporated into well-known theories, such as utility theory ([14], [61], [104]). The importance of accounting for these factors has been consistently emphasized in the literature ([36], [90], [142]). Researchers have developed and refined various methods to understand how individuals make decisions under uncertainty ([36], [61]). This report includes a few examples of methods to measure risk preference and risk perception arising from an unstructured literature review of risk across the domains of economics and psychology.

We conducted a review of the literature to explore the existing methods used to elicit individual risk preferences and perceptions. Given the vast landscape of research, our findings represent only a portion of the available methods, and largely arise from segments of the economics and psychological literatures. The identified methods range from simple survey techniques to more complex experimental designs, such as incentivized games and investment tasks. Additionally, we explored how individual-level preferences can be aggregated to reflect group or community-level risk preferences. We refer to 'aggregation' as the process of compiling and synthesizing individual risk preferences into a community-level preference using a range of techniques beyond simple mathematical summations. We have identified several methods that provide insights into the approaches researchers have used to extract group-level risk preferences. However, the

aggregation of these individual preferences to infer group or community-level risk preferences still requires more research and refinement.

Based on our review of the literature, we identified a notable gap in the methods available for assessing community risk preferences. While there are well-established methods for measuring individual risk preferences and perceptions, there is room for additional research on community-level risk preferences and perceptions to appropriately inform community-level decision-making. This gap poses a significant challenge to the development of effective measures in community resilience planning and other areas where decisions are made by a group. We aim to highlight this critical research gap and underscore the importance of developing and refining methods that can capture the complexities of community risk preferences and perceptions. Addressing this need is essential for informed policy-making and strategic planning that can enhance community resilience in the face of uncertainties and potential disasters.

This report is divided into four sections. First, we define risk and associated aspects, such as risk preferences and perceptions. In the second section, we provide an overview of a few of the available methods for eliciting individual risk preferences and perceptions. We then delve into an exploration of group risk preferences in Section 3, examining methods for aggregating individual preferences to derive group-level insights. Finally, we consolidate our findings, outlining key insights gleaned from our investigation and proposing avenues for future research.

2. Defining risk

Defining risk in the context of community resilience planning is complex, as the concept of risk varies across different academic disciplines. In this report, we explore definitions of risk across various fields that are related to community resilience planning. Risk, in Webster's dictionary, is defined as both a noun and a verb. As a noun, it is defined as "a possibility of loss or injury" or "the chance or probability of loss," "the perils to the subject matter of an insurance contract," and "the chance that an investment (such as a stock or commodity) will lose value." As a verb, it is defined as "to expose to hazard or danger" or "to incur the risk or danger of something." Similar to Webster's definitions for a noun, the American Psychological Association (APA) [2] defines risk as "the probability or likelihood that a negative event will occur" or "the probability of experiencing a loss to harm that is associated with an action or behavior." Health and environmental sciences share similar definitions of psychology although the negative event is a harmful event relating to human health or ecological systems. US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) [136] defines risk to be, "the chance of harmful effects to human health or to ecological systems resulting from exposure to an environmental stressor." In line with the definition put forward by the APA, finance traditionally defines risk as the "uncertainty associated with the financial loss" [100].

Although many disciplines define risk as the probability of a negative event, in economics, it can be associated with both negative events (e.g., a potential loss) and positive events (e.g., gains from a lottery). Economists tend to associate risk more with uncertainty rather than if that uncertainty is connected to a positive or negative event [26]. The International Standard Organization ISO31000 defines risk as "the effect of uncertainty on (the achievement of) objectives" ([62], [96]). Sharing this ideology, in the field of finance, investments, and insurance, risk is also defined by Damodaran [27] as "the likelihood that we will receive a return on an investment that is different from the return we expect to make." This definition emphasizes that risk encompasses both negative and positive outcomes.

Social sciences and policy analysts view risk from the social and subjective side of risk to identify the policy implications. Beck [10] defines risk as a "systematic way of dealing with hazards and insecurities induced and introduced by modernization itself." Rosa incorporates the social dimension with uncertainty by stating "risk is a situation or an event where something of human value (including humans themselves) is at stake and where the outcome is uncertain" [111]. The context of engineering and risk management is slightly different from the above; Risk refers to "the composite measure of an event's probability of occurring and the magnitude or degree of the consequences of the corresponding event" [97]. Šotić [128] defines it as the "product of probability of the occurrence of an adverse event and the weight of the consequences of that event." Similarly, in the view of disaster mitigation sciences, the concept of risk is defined as, "the potential (not actual and realized) disaster losses, in lives, health status, livelihoods, assets and services, which could occur in a particular community or society over some specified future time period" or "the product of the possible damage caused by a hazard due to the vulnerability within a community" by the United States Agency International Development [136].

It is evident from the above discussion that the diverse definitions of risk stem not only from the varied contexts and nature of the problems under consideration, but also from the different disciplinary backgrounds of researchers (e.g., coming from economics, engineering, and psychology). The psychological definition emphasizes the probability of negative outcomes, while the economic or financial definition considers both potential gains and losses. We can see that social sciences view risk as a societal construct involving human values and uncertainties, and engineering defines it based on the probability and magnitude of consequences. In the context of this paper, we use the following definition of risk: the likelihood of occurrence of an uncertain event, as it addresses the human construct and uncertainties relevant to community resilience. When confronted with this uncertainty, individuals respond through actions shaped by their risk behavior, which reflects how they navigate and manage potential outcomes. Risk behavior refers to the actions individuals take when faced with uncertainty, influenced by their risk preferences and perceptions.

2.1. Risk preference

An individual generally considers all available options and seeks to maximize their satisfaction or utility, reflecting a core principle of the theory of choice [76], which is closely related to the study of risk preferences. Considering an individual's personal preferences, each available option is weighed against the potential benefits and costs to select the one that best aligns with their goals and values. Risk preference is a person's preference over certainty when given a choice between different options with uncertain outcomes. In other words, it refers to the risk a person is willing to take based on the expected utility or satisfaction of the outcome. These preferences, which encompass individual's attitudes towards uncertainty and their willingness to take risks, play a crucial role in shaping behavior and influencing choices.

Though economics and psychology both employ the term "risk preference," the definitions differ across the two disciplines [90]. Psychology focuses on the behavioral aspect, as Hertwig [58] refers to it as "the propensity to engage in behaviors or activities that, although rewarding, involve the potential for loss or harm (for oneself or others)." While the economics and finance disciplines focus on the outcome of the action, Rigdon [110] views it as "the tendency to choose an action that involves higher variance in potential monetary outcomes, relative to another option with a lower variance of outcomes (with equal expected value)." The economic reference underlines the uncertainty involved around the event independent of whether the outcomes involve gains or losses.

Often researchers across fields classify individuals into categories based on their individual propensities towards risk-taking by analyzing the decisions they make over different uncertain outcomes. Economics defines a risk-neutral individual as someone who will always select the option that has the highest expected value, even if there is high uncertainty surrounding the outcomes of the option with a higher value [58]. For example, if you give someone the option between a bet with a 50 percent chance of winning \$100 and a 50 percent chance of winning \$0, then a risk-neutral individual would be willing to pay \$50 to buy a ticket for that lottery since \$50 is the expected value of the lottery. A risk-averse individual would only be willing to pay less than

\$50 for the same lottery described above. There is a wide range of levels of risk aversion, so someone with extremely risk-averse preferences may only be willing to pay \$25, while someone who is only slightly risk-averse may be willing to pay \$45 for the same lottery. In an economic framework, an individual would be considered risk-seeking, if they would be willing to pay more than the expected value for an uncertain outcome, so they would be willing to pay more than \$50 for the same lottery presented above. In economics, the level of risk aversion of an individual is defined by "the concavity of the utility function" or "the negative of the second derivative of the utility function" ([141], [144]). Risk aversion has also been defined by Qualls and Puto [105] as a decision maker's "preference for a guaranteed outcome over a probabilistic one having an equal expected value."

The psychology field tends to focus on behavior and use narrative terms for communicating risk preferences. In her two-factor theory, Lopes [81] described risk-averse and risk-seeking people in the discussion between security versus potential. She notes that "risk-averse people appear to be motivated by a desire for security, whereas risk-seeking people appear to be motivated by a desire for potential." March and Shapira [86] describe "individuals or organizations that pursue actions with small variability in outcomes as either 'reliable' or 'risk averse' depending on the context. Those that pursue actions with large variability in outcomes can similarly be described either as 'unreliable' or 'risk-seeking.'" More recently, Hertwig [58], broadened the interpretation of risk preference to underline the complexity of risk preference by incorporating constructs such as impulsivity, sensation-seeking, novelty-seeking, and impulse control. These perspectives collectively emphasize the diverse motivations and interpretations behind risk preferences, illustrating the need for nuanced approaches to studying and understanding risk-related behaviors and how the narrative of risk preferences has evolved over time.

2.2. Risk perception

Risk perception is a person's subjective judgment concerning a given risk [126]. Sjoberg et al. [123] defined it as the subjective valuation of the likelihood of a specified type of accident or incident happening and how concerned we are with the consequences. Schroeder et al. [116] note that "Risk perceptions represent a person's views about risk inherent in, or riskiness of, a particular situation." APA [2] also defines it as "an individual's subjective assessment of the level of risk associated with a particular hazard (e.g., health threat)." It is factored by various individual characteristics, experiences, and information ([2], [6], [13], [51], [94], [107], [109], [115], [123], [147]). Kirby [69], borrowing from a sociological point of view, agrees that "the individual's perception of risk is usually dependent upon a social representation, which can be defined as a culturally conditioned way of viewing the world and the events that take place there." Hence, perceptions may change when new information or experience has been encountered, while preference is a more consistent individual trait. Theories about risk perceptions have identified two main types based on the origin of the risk [40]. Deliberative risk perceptions are systematic, logical, and rule-based, involving careful analysis and reasoning about the risk. On the other hand, affective or experiential risk perceptions are based on emotions and experiences, referring to the feelings associated with the risk, or the intuitive impressions people have about it. These two

types highlight the dual nature of how individuals perceive and respond to risks, combining both rational and emotional elements.

2.3. Risk attitude

Risk attitude is a characteristic that, while interconnected with risk preference and risk perception, encompasses a broader and more general conceptualization of risk. Schroeder et al. [116] indicate that "Risk attitudes describe a person's overriding tendency toward risk in a consistent way across different risky situations." It refers to an individual's inclination towards risk-taking or risk-averse actions. Risk attitude can be categorized into risk averse, risk neutral, and risk-seeking, which identify an individual's comfort level with risk and approaches to decision-making. Schroeder [116] explains, "Risk-averse people place a high premium on assured safe(ty), relative to risky ventures. Risk-neutral people are indifferent among choices with different levels of risk, and risk-seeking individuals (e.g., gamblers) pursue risky situations." Risk attitude and risk preferences, though measured on similar scales, are distinct as risk attitude reflects a general disposition towards risk, risk preferences pertain to specific choices among risky options and vary depending on the context. Risk behavior, which we use as a term to refer to the choices and realized actions, is dependent on both risk perceptions and risk preferences ([101], [144]). It is a manifestation of how people respond to real world situations when confronted with uncertain outcomes.

While risk attitude, perception, preference, and behavior are related concepts, they are distinguishable as they apply to different aspects of decision-making. Take, for instance, an individual who is making the decision to purchase insurance for their house to protect against flooding. Risk perception is how the individual perceives the risk of flooding, such as the likelihood or potential damage. An individual's general tendency towards taking action against potential damage, such as a risk-taking approach or a risk-averse approach, is termed risk attitude. The individual's preference over uncertain outcomes (e.g., uncertain cost of flood damage) describes the individual's risk preference. Risk behavior is influenced by risk attitude, perception and preference, and possibly other factors that play a role in decision-making, such as financial condition and demographic characteristics. Understanding risk preferences, perceptions, attitudes, and behavior is important in community resilience planning ([6], [22], [44], [45], [59], [82], [91], [107], [113], [114], [135], [142], [150]) so decision-makers can better anticipate how individuals and groups will respond to various risks, leading to more informed and effective strategies. By employing diverse measurement techniques, researchers can better understand how risk influences behavior and inform the development of effective strategies to manage and mitigate potential hazards, which we will discuss in the following section.

3. Eliciting risk behavior

Given the critical role of risk behavior in decision-making, researchers across disciplines – here, we focus on psychology and economics – have devised numerous methods to gauge an individual's risk preferences and perceptions. These approaches aim to capture how individuals perceive and respond to uncertain situations, providing valuable insights into their decision-making processes. We provide a brief, though not comprehensive, overview of some of the available techniques to measure risk preferences and perceptions.

3.1. Risk preference elicitation

The measurement of risk preferences involves a multidimensional approach that draws insights from various disciplines, such as psychology, economics, and behavioral science. As such, accurately measuring risk preferences is essential for researchers, policymakers, and practitioners who need to assess an individual's behavior to design effective measures. A wide range of elicitation methods have been developed to measure risk preferences across domains. Risk preferences are typically measured using real time incentivized games and experiments ([4], [19], [59], [61], [82]) or using data collection instruments ([5], [30], [63], [84]).

3.1.1. Incentivized games

Incentivized games typically engage participants with some type of monetary incentives, as these involve participants making decisions in various scenarios that involve risk and the decision that impacts their earnings. By linking choices to outcomes that directly impact a participant's earnings or payoffs, incentivized games create a high-stakes environment that mirrors real-life decision-making situations ([9], [61]). These games can be formatted in lottery-style choices, investment games, or risk-taking tasks. The lottery-style tasks tend to offer the participants a list of hypothetical lottery options associated with different probabilities and payoffs, encouraging them to choose their most preferred option. The investment game asks the participants to make investment choices by allocating finances across various portfolios and assets, which provides insights into the risk nature and investment strategies. Incentivized games allow the researchers to capture real preferences of individuals, in action with immediate consequences in a controlled environment. Due to this aspect, economists have an inclination towards the incentivized experimental style of understanding risk perceptions [36], however, these methods demand a considerable time commitment from participants, whether conducted online or in person.

The multiple price list method is a technique to elicit risk preferences [85] that involves providing the participant with a series of choices between two options, a safe option, and a risky option, with varying probabilities and payoffs. Participants indicate their preference for each choice, allowing researchers to observe the point at which they switch from preferring the safe option to the risky one. Holt and Laury [61] take an approach that is a specific application of the multiple price list method designed to measure risk aversion. This method uses varying risk and return for the respondents to make multiple choices between the given pairs of lotteries, usually with a smaller but more certain payoff and another with a larger but less certain payoff. As in the expected utility theory, the switch point at which the participants transition from preferring a

safe option to a risky one allows the researcher to infer the risk preferences ([9], [15]). Table 1 shows an example of the Holt and Laury method, where the increasing and decreasing probabilities for the associated payoffs can be observed. The monetary amounts in option B are more variable than in option A, making option B the riskier option. The probability of the high payoff for both options is 1/10 (first option); Option B is likely to be chosen only by an extreme risk seeker. As the probability of the high payoff option increases as we move down the table, the participant would cross over to Option B. Generally, if participants consistently opt for the safer, lower-risk option across multiple pairs of lotteries, it indicates a higher level of risk aversion. Conversely, if participants consistently choose the riskier option with higher potential payoffs despite greater uncertainty, it suggests a higher tolerance for risk.

Table 1. Example of the lottery-style questions (Holt and Laury, 2002).

Option A	Option B	Expected Payoff difference
1/10 of \$2.00, 9/10 of \$1.60	1/10 of \$3.85, 9/10 of \$0.10	\$1.17
2/10 of \$2.00, 8/10 of \$1.60	2/10 of \$3.85, 8/10 of \$0.10	\$0.83
3/10 of \$2.00, 7/10 of \$1.60	3/10 of \$3.85, 7/10 of \$0.10	\$0.50
4/10 of \$2.00, 6/10 of \$1.60	4/10 of \$3.85, 6/10 of \$0.10	\$0.16
5/10 of \$2.00, 5/10 of \$1.60	5/10 of \$3.85, 5/10 of \$0.10	-\$0.18
6/10 of \$2.00, 4/10 of \$1.60	6/10 of \$3.85, 4/10 of \$0.10	-\$0.51
7/10 of \$2.00,3/10 of \$1.60	7/10 of \$3.85,3/10 of \$0.10	-\$0.85
8/10 of \$2.00, 2/10 of \$1.60	8/10 of \$3.85, 2/10 of \$0.10	-\$1.18
9/10 of \$2.00, 1/10 of \$1.60	9/10 of \$3.85, 1/10 of \$0.10	-\$1.52
10/10 of \$2.00,0/10 of \$1.60	10/10 of \$3.85,0/10 of \$0.10	-\$1.85

Eckel and Grossman [37] use a similar lottery style risk perception elicitation method. Table 2 shows an example of the Eckel and Grossman method. It presents participants with 50-50 gambles, where the gains in expected value can only be obtained with an increase in risk. Table 3 illustrates the various payoffs, highlighting the increasing levels of risk associated with each option.

Table 2. Example of the lottery-style questions (Eckel and Grossman, 2002).

Lotton, 1	50%	А	€4	•
Lottery 1	50%	В	€4	lacksquare
Lottery 2	50%	Α	€6	
	50%	В	€3	
Lottery 3	50%	А	€8	
	50%	В	€2	
Lottery 4	50%	А	€10	•
	50%	В	€1	
Lottery 5	50%	А	€12	
	50%	В	€0	

Source: Filippin's [42] elaboration of Eckel, C.C., and P. J. Grossman. "Sex differences and statistical stereotyping in attitudes towards financial risk." Evolution and Human Behavior 23:4 (2002): 281-295 (4).

Unlike the Holt-Laury method, which involves a series of choices with varying probabilities, the Eckel-Grossman method requires participants to make a single choice among the set of lotteries. The chosen lottery is played, and the participant is paid accordingly at the end of the experiment in an incentivized version of this question. The possible reward increases along with the associated risk. The simplicity of this method can make the task easier for participants and reduce potential confusion [92]. Though simple, this method effectively evaluates risk preferences and maintains the necessary heterogeneity for estimating utility parameters.

Table 3. Example of Eckel and Grossman style lottery choice question.

Lotteries (50/50 chance)	Low payoff	High Payoff	Expected value	Variance
Lottery 1	€4.00	€4.00	€4.00	€0.00
Lottery 2	€3.50	€5.00	€4.25	€1.60
Lottery 3	€3.00	€6.00	€4.50	€2.12
Lottery 4	€2.50	€7.00	€4.75	€3.18
Lottery 5	€2.00	€8.00	€5.00	€4.24
Lottery 6	€1.00	€9.00	€5.00	€5.66

Gneezy and Potter's method [52] demonstrates another method for assessing an individual's risk preferences through an investment scenario. In this method, participants receive a sum of money, \$X and are asked to decide how much of the amount they want to invest into a risky option while keeping the rest. The risky option entails a probability, p, of yielding a dividend of k * \$x. The money that is not invested will be kept by the participant. The parameters p and k are chosen such that investing more always raises the expected value and the variance. The value \$x, which is the only decision participants make in this experiment, is thus the measure of risk aversion. The method is created such that risk neutral participants should invest the entire amount while the risk averse participants are likely to invest part of their money based on their level of risk aversion. Essentially, the participant's decision on how much money to invest then allows the researcher to calculate their risk preference ([33], [60]).

There are other computerized methods, which aim to assess risk preferences. Such methods aim to simulate real-world risk-taking situations, allowing researchers to observe participant's risk preferences and decision-making strategies. Balloon Analogue Risk Task (BART) [75] is a popular method where participants inflate a virtual balloon, gaining money with each pump but risking the balloon popping and losing all accrued rewards [53]. The BART is particularly useful in capturing individual differences in risk tolerance. Participants who pump more air into their balloon are considered to have higher risk tolerance, as they are willing to risk losing all accrued rewards for the chance of a higher payoff. The Columbia Card task (CCT) [41] is another method, where the participants select cards from 32 face-down cards. A gain card equals a specified positive amount and the chance to continue the trial whereas a loss card equals a specified subtraction from the previous payoff and ends the task. The number of cards selected before stopping indicates the participant's risk preference, with more selections suggesting higher risk tolerance. The task can differentiate between decisions made under emotional conditions and those made under cognitive conditions, providing insights into how emotions influence risk-

taking. It helps identify individual differences in risk behavior, including how people weigh potential gains against the probability of losses. These approaches help reveal nuances in risk behavior by illustrating how an individual's risk preferences can vary widely, depending on the context and format of the elicitation method. The multiple price list methods allow for detailed distinctions between risk neutrality and risk seeking behaviors with the precise adjustments of probabilities and payoffs. Furthermore, the computerized methods help simulate real-world risk-taking scenarios, providing deeper insights into the cognitive processes and personality traits that influence risk behavior.

3.1.2. Data collection instrument

Data collection instruments such as surveys, questionnaires, interviews, or focus groups support the process of systematically gathering self-reported information about an individual's preferences regarding risk. The surveys attempt to ask people about their preferences or willingness to take risks, for hypothetical scenarios or general risk questions. There are several approaches used by researchers, such as a multi-item questionnaire advocated by Dohmen et al. (2011) style questions, Likert scale questions, and lottery choice questions.

One example of a survey question to gather risk preferences is the "general risk question." An example of a general risk question is "Are you generally a person who is willing to take risks, or do you try to avoid taking risks?" The response to this question can be rated on a scale, such as a 5 or an 11-point Likert scale, allowing participants to indicate their level of agreement or disagreement ranging from "not at all willing to take risks" to "very willing to take risks [31]." This method has been used widely across domains in predicting risk behavior ([5], [30], [73]).

The Dohmen et al., [30] style question is another method used to elicit risk preferences in a simple and intuitive format on an 11-point scale. The participants are presented with hypothetical scenarios and are asked to indicate their preference corresponding to each scenario on a scale of 0 to 10, with 0 representing complete aversion to risk and 10 representing complete willingness to take risks ([63], [84]). The scenarios are curated such that the responses reveal underlying psychological characteristics and preferences. For example, the participants are presented with risk propensity questions or a set of lotteries and are asked to indicate their willingness to take risk or choose a lottery choice corresponding to each case. This simple rating scale allows researchers to quickly capture an individual's risk preferences in a quantitative format, making it easy to analyze and compare responses across different groups and contexts. An example of this risk preference elicitation method can be found in Table 4.

Table 4. Example Question from Dohmen et al. [84]

How do you see yourself: are you generally a person
who is fully prepared to take risks or do you try to avoid
taking risks?

(Please tick a box on the scale, where the value 0 means: 'not at
all willing to take risk's and the value 10 means: 'very willing to
take risk's.)

0 (not at all willing to take risks)

2

3

4

5

6

□ 7
□ 8
□ 9
 ☐ 10 (very willing to take risks)

All of these methods allow researchers to estimate the risk preferences of an individual. Lottery choices, often utilized by economists, can be integrated into data collection instruments, rendering them as quantifiable measures aligned with the utility function construct of risk preference. This adaptability, as Eckel [36] notes, also contributes to the growing preference for such data collection instruments alongside their simplicity, ease of understanding for larger crowds, and inexpensive nature.

3.2. Risk perception elicitation

Understanding individual's perceptions of risk is crucial for various reasons, including informing decision-making processes, shaping public policies, and designing interventions to increase understanding of risk. Risk perceptions of individuals are measured by asking the individuals how they perceive and evaluate various. These risk perceptions are commonly measured through the data collection instruments using Likert scale questions. Participants may be asked to rate the perceived risk of particular hazards, events, or activities using Likert scales or other rating systems. These instruments may also include questions about perceived severity, controllability, familiarity, and trust in authorities or institutions managing that risk to understand the context within which the respondent is making the risk perception valuation. This comprehensive approach allows researchers to capture a broad spectrum of risk perceptions and provides valuable insights into individual's attitudes and behaviors regarding risk.

Likert-scale questions are a common method of assessing risk perceptions across various domains. Typically, participants are presented with statements regarding specific topics or subjects and are asked to indicate their level of agreement or disagreement using a 5-point or 7-point Likert scale. The Likert scale typically goes from "Strongly disagree" to "Strongly agree" with "Neither agree nor disagree" as a neutral point, as shown in the example in Table 6. The use of a "scale" enables individuals to express nuanced views, providing valuable insights into their perceptions of risk. The simplicity of Likert-scale questions makes them accessible to diverse researchers and a wide range of participants.

Table 5. Example Likert-style question [146]

	□ 1. Extremely Unlikely
How likely is it that X will occur/ [you will do X] this	2. Unlikely
year where you live?	☐ 3. Neither Likely nor Unlikely
,	□ 4. Likely
	☐ 5. Extremely Unlikely

Another risk perception measurement data collection instrument is the DOSPERT (DOmain-SPEcific Risk-Taking scale) [12] to measure risk perceptions across various domains of life. It

emphasizes the focus on assessing risk perceptions in specific areas rather than a general risk perception. The scale consists of 30 items divided into six domains: Financial, Health/Safety, Recreational, Ethical, Social, and Gambling. Each domain consists of five items that represent different risk-taking scenarios. For example, the statements in the DOSPERT scale ask the participants to rate the likelihood of engaging in an activity or behavior such as "Investing 5% of your annual income in a very speculative stock." and "Driving a car without wearing a seat belt." The complete list of questions in DOSPERT is provided in Appendix A.

The DOSPERT scale is designed to recognize that people may exhibit varied risk perception depending on the context, while other methods can also be adapted to be domain specific the DOSPERT questions are prewritten for the six identified domains. The scale, as shown in Table 6, provides more nuanced insights into an individual's risk views.

Option	Risk taking	Risk perception
1	Extremely Unlikely	Not at all Risky
2	Moderately Unlikely	Slightly Risky
3	Somewhat Unlikely	Somewhat Risky
4	Not sure	Moderately Risky
5	Somewhat Likely	Risky
6	Moderately Likely	Very Risky
7	Extremely Likely	Extremely Risky

Table 6. DOSPERT scale for risk taking and risk perception.

Focus groups and interviews are other modes that provide insights into how individuals perceive and interpret risks. The participant's beliefs, perceptions and emotions can be explored relative to a specific risk or a particular event, allowing for a richer understanding of the factors shaping the risk perception. Focus group discussions allow for a broad exploration and a deep understanding of the topic, especially when the intent is to gather general themes and ideas on topics not yet well studied. Focus groups are particularly useful when no existing research can provide the basic information and the theoretical basis may be unclear; they are an ideal way to generate new ideas that will be relevant for subsequent larger-scale studies, surveys, and future research ([72], [97]).

The psychometric paradigm is another popular method, which involves using factor analysis to identify underlying dimensions of risk perception of people with respect to hazards [125]. This framework captures both cognitive and emotional aspects of how individuals perceive risk. Research in the psychometric paradigm has demonstrated that emotional reactions play a crucial role in shaping an individual's perceptions of risk, impacting how they evaluate physical, environmental, and material hazards beyond their objective outcomes. According to this framework, individuals assess the riskiness of a hazard by considering a combination of various risk characteristics such as controllability, severity, and familiarity, among others. Individuals are asked to rate the possible hazards on a 5-point Likert scale for associated risk characteristics such as knowledge of risk to those who are exposed, control over risk, severity of the incident, and number of people killed from the incident [118]. By analyzing the patterns, researchers can

identify how an individual's risk judgments are influenced by different hazard characteristics and contribute to more effective risk communication and management strategies.

Visual aids help in eliciting risk perceptions by providing a structured, intuitive way for individuals to evaluate and compare potential risks. The participants are presented with visual representations of risks and are asked to interpret and respond to various scenarios. Graphical representations, such as risk matrices, decision trees, visual aids can facilitate informed decision-making [49]. For example, participants are presented with categories such as "low probability/low impact" to high probability/ high impact" where individuals place risks such as 'hazard', 'health issue', or 'driving' within these categories based on their perceived likelihood and potential consequences [87]. Participants then interpret these placements by assessing the seriousness and urgency of each risk, considering how the combination of probability and impact informs their judgment on which risks require immediate attention or mitigation efforts. This interpretation process helps to reveal the participant's subjective perceptions of risk severity and prioritization, as well as their underlying attitudes toward different types of risks.

The approaches and methods discussed in this section offer insights into an individual's risk preferences and perceptions. By employing these diverse techniques, researchers can gather comprehensive data that reflects the complexity of human risk attitudes, enabling more accurate predictions and tailored interventions. This holistic approach to risk elicitation is crucial for developing effective strategies in fields such as public policy, business, and community resilience planning. However, when assessing risk preferences for more than a single individual, especially in situations with pooled resources and shared outcomes, such as a group or organization, the dynamics may be entirely different. It becomes critical to understand collective attitudes, preferences of group members towards risk, and how the decision is going to affect the entire group. We will discuss the elicitation of group risk preferences in the following section.

4. Group and community risk preferences

Individual risk preferences pertain to an individual's tolerance for risk, for themselves, and in situations that impact themselves and/or others. However, since people are inherently social beings, many activities and decisions involve multiple individuals, even when there is a single representative decision-maker, which shifts the focus to group behavior. Group risk preferences extend the study of risk preferences over uncertain outcomes beyond the individual to collective entities such as teams, households, organizations, and more broadly into communities or societies.

4.1. Group risk preferences

Relatively few studies focus on group risk preferences, and those that do typically address only small groups, exploring concepts such as social preferences, collective decision-making, and risk-sharing mechanisms ([38], [56], [121], [138]). Studies centered on methods from sociology, public health, economics, and environmental science have examined how group dynamics, social norms, and institutional factors influence risk perceptions and decision-making at the community level.

Research confirms that groups tend to make decisions that differ from those of individuals [20]. Individuals tend to match with others who have similar risk preferences within their networks, particularly in informal settings such as family or social groups, reflecting a preference for interacting with those who share similar risk attitudes [104]. This has also been studied through investigations of how social influence, peer effects, and conformity play a role in the formation of group risk preferences. Social identity theory and social learning theory have suggested that social interactions and norms influence one's risk preferences, leading to convergence or divergence of preferences as part of the discussion around compliance and conformity within groups [24]. Smaller group risk preferences have been studied against individuals in lottery valuation experiments in the economic context and identified that the average group is more risk averse than an individual ([89], [121]). However, Knippenberg et al. noted that group risk preferences are neither risk-seeking nor risk-averse; rather the preference depends on the problem the group is facing [138]. Harrison et al. [56] found a significant effect of group information on elicited risk attitudes in the social setting, and subjects are significantly more risk averse when they know the risk preferences of other group members. Existing research has primarily examined smaller groups (e.g., fewer than five members within the group). However, the shift in people's risk attitudes when making decisions for themselves versus for others versus a larger community, especially where the decisions could impact a broader population, remains largely unexplored.

Surrogate decision making is one area of study popular in the health sciences, which has also investigated risk preferences when other individuals are involved. Surrogate decision-making is when someone (Person A) makes a decision on behalf of another person (Person B) for something impacting that other person (Person B) [151]. Recent research has focused on one's accuracy within surrogate decision-making specifically in the healthcare domain, where health decisions are critical, especially for an aging population ([71], [122], [117]) or in the financial sector, where

financial experts take investment decisions on behalf of their clients or govern one's financial affairs ([39], [151], [149]). However, surrogate decision making has been underexplored for larger groups or communities where decisions impact a significantly larger population.

4.2. Measuring group risk preferences

Measuring group risk preferences is more complex than measuring individual risk preferences, requiring a multifaceted interdisciplinary perspective. Researchers have employed various approaches, including aggregation methods, experimental designs, and social influence analyses, to compare individual and group risk preferences.

Aggregation can be achieved through simple and straightforward mathematical approaches. It has an underlying assumption that the preferences of the group can be estimated from the distribution of the individual risk preferences [1]. The distribution refers to the spread and variability of individual risk preferences within the group. It encompasses not only the statistical metrics such as mean, median, and variance as well as how well the preferences are distributed across the options or categories. For example, individual risk preferences can be aggregated through simple averaging or summation of individual responses. In a survey-based study, researchers may calculate the sum, mean or median risk preference score across all participants in a group to achieve a group consensus ([46], [68], [83], [130]). Although this approach provides the ease to estimate group risk preferences, the heterogeneity within the group may be overlooked and might fail to capture the nuances. It also makes the inherent assumption that all responses are equally weighted in the decision-making process.

Weighted aggregation is another method that can reveal the relative importance or influence of each individual's preference within the larger group. This method assigns weights to responses of certain individuals with the group risk preferences obtained either from weighted averaging or weighted summation [35]. For example, in households, the preference of the head of the household might be weighted greater than other household members or in an organization, the risk preferences of senior leaders or key stakeholders may carry more weight in determining the group's preferences. In the context of community resilience planning, weighted aggregation can ensure that the vulnerable and marginal populations are represented. For example, greater weights can be assigned to people who are living in the flood-prone zone of the community than the others who are not when developing a flood mitigation plan. Weighted aggregation allows for a more nuanced understanding of group risk preferences by accounting for variations in individual influence [8].

Another statistical method, latent class analysis, is a technique that allows researchers to identify subgroups with similar characteristics and patterns using observed variables from among the larger group [53]. In identifying group risk preferences, this method can assist in identifying subgroups with similar risk preferences such that these latent classes (subgroups) can help analyze the underlying heterogeneity of risk preferences across the group ([29], [139]).

Aggregating individual risk preferences to estimate group risk preferences is a complex process that requires careful consideration of methodological approaches and theoretical frameworks. While simple aggregating methods provide a convenient way to estimate group preferences,

more sophisticated techniques such as weighted aggregate and latent class analysis offer insights into the dynamics of group decision-making and the emergence of collective preferences. By combining multiple methods and perspectives, researchers can gain a deeper understanding of how individual risk preferences manifest at the group level and influence community outcomes.

4.3. Community risk preferences

Furthering the group risk preferences to a larger scale, e.g., organization or community, is essential for various efforts, the primary among which is community resilience planning. It enables tailored interventions that reflect the collective risk tolerance and perceptions of the organization or community, ensuring more resilient and adaptive responses to potential threats.

In larger groups, such as organizations, effective risk management mechanisms are essential for navigating uncertainty and crises. Risk perceptions and preferences are often formalized into risk management frameworks. Enterprise risk management frameworks such as ISO 31000 [62] or the committee of sponsoring organizations of the Treadway Committee (COSO) provide structured approaches to assess and address risks comprehensively. These frameworks enable organizations to identify potential risks, evaluate their possible impacts, and implement strategies to mitigate or manage them effectively. The Protective Action Decision Model (PADM) [78] is another valuable framework that helps organizations and, on a larger scale – communities understand how individuals and groups make decisions during crises or emergencies. By analyzing factors such as threat severity, uncertainty, and the efficacy of protective actions, the PADM guides organizations in developing proactive and adaptive response strategies. The risk preferences provide a basis for the decision-making of a protective action. We can combine these with other situational factors to predict the behavioral response. Hence, knowledge of risk preferences and perceptions of all the stake holders for various threats would enable and equip the community with effective resilience measures.

The frameworks serve to integrate these diverse preferences and perceptions of individual stakeholders into the decision-making process, ensuring that responses to risks are well-informed and aligned with organizational goals in addition to creating more acceptable protective action plans. By incorporating evaluation mechanisms discussed earlier in this article, organizations can map stakeholder's risk attitudes and integrate them seamlessly into the decision-making process. This integration allows for the comprehensive evaluation of risk treatment options and the development of effective mitigation strategies tailored to specific crises or hazards.

Additionally, assessing community risk preferences helps in fostering social cohesion and trust, as decisions are made with a comprehensive understanding of community concerns and priorities [54]. This approach supports better preparedness, response, and recovery strategies, ultimately enhancing overall community resilience. There are a few key areas where community risk preferences have been explored to date.

Risk perception is one of the important factors affecting preparedness behavior towards disasters [13]. Disaster risk perception investigates the community's perception and response to various hazards and threats by examining past experiences, preparedness, socio-economic status, belief,

trust, and other psychological characteristics ([25], [77], [78], [83], [101]). Several works utilize a mixed methods strategy, which includes both quantitative surveys and qualitative interviews to understand community risk preferences ([25], [83]).

Collective decision-making can explore how the community makes decisions under uncertainty and risk [95]. It is a process in which each person has an opportunity to influence and decide on their work and group tasks [20]. Individuals express their preferences and beliefs on an issue to reach a single decision [87]. Collective decision-making can investigate mechanisms for how individuals make decisions for their community, consensus building, governance, and community-based approach to risk management ([102], [138]).

Environment and health risk management often look at community risk preferences concerning health hazards, infectious diseases, and environmental hazards such as pollution and climate change. Studies try to assess the community's attitudes towards environmental risks, preferences for mitigation measures, including community participation in decision-making through various methods as mentioned in the article, along with the factors related to risk such as probability of the hazard and other psychological factors ([63], [66], [99]) and explore communication and risk strategies, informed decision-making, and risk reduction behaviors [27].

Several researchers have highlighted the need for better methods, as current methods often lack the robustness and flexibility needed to accurately capture the complex dynamics of diverse groups. Bang [8] suggests that simple averaging may not suffice, given the complexity of group dynamics. Instead, more sophisticated approaches that consider the interactions and dependencies among individuals within a group are necessary. For instance, deliberative processes [117], where group members discuss and negotiate their preferences, could provide a more accurate reflection of community risk preferences. However, these methods are still in their infancy and require further development and validation. Additional research is essential to create more detailed and adaptable aggregation methods that can better inform decision-making in community resilience planning and other large-scale applications.

The findings from previous research indicate that additional exploration is needed on how group risk preferences diverge from individual preferences. This distinction is pivotal for grasping the intricacies of collective decision-making and effectively managing risks that affect communities, especially in community resilience planning. However, aggregation methods for estimating group risk preferences are not well developed and, in most cases, still depend upon accurately measuring individual risk preferences. Exploring the emergence of group risk preferences from individual risk preferences has been relatively limited, except for a few methods described earlier in this section. There is a need for researchers to establish robust methods to derive group risk preferences from individual data. Additionally, it's important to explore the processes by which groups converge on a single risk preference, which is a fundamentally different approach than mere mathematical aggregation. This involves understanding the social, psychological, and communicative processes that lead to a shared group risk preference, which may differ significantly from the simple mathematical combination of individual preferences; however, there is space to also look at processes by which groups come to a single risk preference, which is different from aggregation completely.

5. Summary and future research

Understanding risk behavior is essential for effective decision-making across domains. Risk preferences and perceptions are crucial components of decision-making processes, especially in community resilience planning. Individual risk preferences reflect how a person is inclined to handle uncertainty and risk, influencing their decisions in areas such as finance, health, and public policy. Researchers have developed a range of methods to evaluate risk preferences and perceptions. Risk preference assessment often employs techniques such as incentivized games, which simulate real-world risk scenarios to observe participant's choices and behaviors. These games, along with surveys and experimental tasks, provide insights into how individuals respond to uncertainty and potential outcomes. Additionally, risk perception evaluation involves capturing subjective attitudes through questionnaires and structured interviews, helping to reveal how people assess and interpret risks. By integrating these diverse evaluation methods, researchers can gain a comprehensive view of individual risk behaviors, ultimately providing valuable insights into individual preferences.

The aggregation of individual risk preferences into group or community risk preferences, however, is an area that has not received as much attention. The few studies that do exist often focus on small groups or specific contexts, leaving a gap in understanding how to effectively aggregate individual preferences to represent larger community or group preferences. Traditional aggregation methods, such as averaging individual risk preferences, may not adequately capture the interactions and dynamics within groups. These methods often fall short of reflecting the true nature of group decision-making processes, which are influenced by various factors such as social dynamics, collective goals, and group interactions.

As much as group risk preferences highlight the dynamics of collective decision-making on larger scales, particularly at the community level, the measurement of risk preferences remains underexplored. There is a significant gap in research regarding how to measure community-level risk preferences. Quantifying these preferences at a community level is crucial, as it can provide a more accurate understanding of how communities as a whole respond to risk.

As communities increasingly face collective risks, such as climate and weather extremes, it is imperative to refine our understanding of how group risk preferences are measured, as well as how they are determined and expressed. The lack of research in this area is particularly evident in community resilience planning. Understanding community risk preferences is vital for developing effective disaster preparedness, response, and recovery strategies. Communities must make collective decisions about resource allocation, risk mitigation, and emergency response, all of which depend on the aggregated risk preferences of the members of the community. Without robust methods to aggregate individual preferences, policymakers and planners may struggle to design interventions that genuinely reflect the community's risk tolerance and priorities. By utilizing data collection instruments or choice experiments, we can investigate the differences between individual and group risk preferences while also forming the groundwork for studying aggregation methods. Considering the growing number of hazards impacting communities each year, it is imperative for researchers to address this gap in understanding community risk preferences.

While there is growing recognition of the importance of understanding how communities perceive risks collectively, there is still much to explore. Future research could focus on developing and refining methods to accurately measure group risk perception, as well as exploring the dynamics of how these perceptions are formed and influenced by various factors such as social networks, media, and cultural contexts.

Additionally, further studies could investigate the impact of group risk perception on the effectiveness of resilience strategies, including how these perceptions affect community participation in resilience-building activities and the adoption of protective behaviors. Exploring the interplay between individual and group perceptions could also provide valuable insights into tailoring communication and intervention strategies to enhance community resilience. Overall, more empirical research is needed to better understand the role of group risk perception in shaping resilience planning and to inform the development of policies and practices that strengthen community preparedness and response to potential hazards.

Limitations:

The focus of this NIST Special Publication is to provide an overview of these methods, highlighting their application in understanding risk behavior and their implications for decision-making processes. Thus, measuring or predicting risk is beyond the current scope. This is not an extensive review of all the available methods for eliciting risk preferences and perceptions. Rather, we aim to highlight some of the most popular and widely used methods and tools in evaluating and gauging risk preferences and perceptions. By integrating which, researchers can gain a comprehensive view of individual and group risk behaviors, ultimately enhancing strategies for managing uncertainty. This overview serves those interested in exploring the methods and applications of risk preference and perception elicitation and addressing the highlighted research gap.

References

- [1] Ambrus, A., Greiner, B., & Pathak, P. A. (2015). How individual preferences are aggregated in groups: An experimental study. *Journal of Public Economics*, *129*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2015.05.008
- [2] American psychological association, definitions. https://dictionary.apa.org/
- [3] Andersen, S., Harrison, G. W., Lau, M. I., & Elisabet Rutström, E. (2008). LOST IN STATE SPACE: ARE PREFERENCES STABLE?*. *International Economic Review*, 49(3), 1091–1112. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2354.2008.00507.x
- [4] Anderson, L. R., & Mellor, J. M. (2008). Predicting health behaviors with an experimental measure of risk preference. *Journal of Health Economics*, *27*(5), 1260–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2008.05.011
- [5] Arslan, R. C., Brümmer, M., Dohmen, T., Drewelies, J., Hertwig, R., & Wagner, G. G. (2020). How people know their risk preference. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 15365. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72077-5
- [6] Baltruschat, S., Megías-Robles, A., Cándido, A., Maldonado, A., & Catena, A. (2021). Social and Non-social Brain Areas in Risk Behaviour: The Role of Social Context. *Neuroscience*, 465, 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2021.04.029
- [7] Balžekienė, A. (2007, March). An Integration of Sociological Risk Theories Explaining the Nuclear Risk Perception in Lithuania. In conference "Risk and Rationalities", University of Cambridge (pp. 29-31).
- [8] Bang, D., & Frith, C. D. (2017). Making better decisions in groups. *Royal Society open science*, 4(8), 170193. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsos.170193
- [9] Bchir, M. A., & Willinger, M. (2013). Does the exposure to natural hazards affect risk and time preferences? Some insights from a field experiment in Perú. Working Papers 13-04, LAMETA, Universtiy of Montpellier, revised Mar 2013.
- [10] Beck, U. (1992). Risk society: Towards a new modernity (Vol. 17). Sage, London and New york
- [11] Becker, G. M., Degroot, M. H., & Marschak, J. (1964). Measuring utility by a single-response sequential method. *Behavioral Science*, *9*(3), 226–232. https://doi.org/10.1002/bs.3830090304
- [12] Blais, A.-R., & Weber, E. U. (2006). A Domain-Specific Risk-Taking (DOSPERT) scale for adult populations. *Judgment and Decision Making*, 1(1), 33–47. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1930297500000334
- [13] Bodas, M., Siman-Tov, M., Kreitler, S., & Peleg, K. (2015). Assessment of emergency preparedness of households in Israel for war—current status. *Disaster medicine and public health preparedness*, *9*(4), 382-390. https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2015.56
- [14] Bohm, J., & Harris, D. (2010). Risk Perception and Risk-Taking Behavior of Construction Site Dumper Drivers. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, *16*(1), 55–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/10803548.2010.11076829
- [15] Bokern, P., Linde, J., Riedl, A., Schmeets, H., & Werner, P. (2021). A survey of risk preference measures and their relation to field behavior. Netspar Survey Paper, 58.
- [16] Bose, T., Reina, A., & Marshall, J. A. (2017). Collective decision-making. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, *16*, 30–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.03.004

- [17] Bradbury, J. A. (1989). The Policy Implications of Differing Concepts of Risk. Science, Technology, & Human Values, 14(4), 380–399. https://doi.org/10.1177/016224398901400404
- [18] Burkhardt, M. (2020). Impacts of natural disasters on supply chain performance. (p. 280). KIT Scientific Publishing.
- [19] Burns, W. J., Peters, E., & Slovic, P. (2012). Risk Perception and the Economic Crisis: A Longitudinal Study of the Trajectory of Perceived Risk. *Risk Analysis*, 32(4), 659–677. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2011.01733.x
- [20] Carbone, G., & Giannoccaro, I. (2015). Model of human collective decision-making in complex environments. *The European Physical Journal B*, 88(12), 339. https://doi.org/10.1140/epjb/e2015-60609-0
- [21] Charness, G., & Sutter, M. (2012). Groups Make Better Self-Interested Decisions. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 26(3), 157–176. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.26.3.157
- [22] Cheng, M., Yang, D. Y., & Frangopol, D. M. (2020). Investigation of Effects of Time Preference and Risk Perception on Life-Cycle Management of Civil Infrastructure. *ASCE-ASME Journal of Risk and Uncertainty in Engineering Systems, Part A: Civil Engineering*, 6(1), 04020001. https://doi.org/10.1061/AJRUA6.0001039
- [23] Chilton, S., Covey, J., Hopkins, L., Jones-Lee, M., Loomes, G., Pidgeon, N., & Spencer, A. (2002). Public perceptions of risk and preference-based values of safety. Journal of Risk and Uncertainty, 25, 211-232. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020962104810
- [24] Cialdini, R. B., & Goldstein, N. J. (2004). Social influence: Compliance and conformity. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.*, *55*, 591-621. doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.142015
- [25] Clark, P. R., Lewis, C., Comeau, E., & Vickers-Smith, R. (2023). Perceptions of community risk assessment and challenges to implementation. *Burns*, *49*(8), 1866–1878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2023.06.008
- [26] Concina, L. (2014). Risk attitude & Economics. FonCSI.
- [27] Covello, V. T., Peters, R. G., Wojtecki, J. G., & Hyde, R. C. (2001). Risk communication, the West Nile virus epidemic, and bioterrorism: responding to the communication challenges posed by the intentional or unintentional release of a pathogen in an urban setting. *Journal of urban health*, 78, 382-391. https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/78.2.382
- [28] Damodaran, A. (2012). *Investment valuation: Tools and techniques for determining the value of any asset* (Vol. 666). John Wiley & Sons.
- [29] Daundasekara, S. S., Schuler, B. R., & Hernandez, D. C. (2022). A latent class analysis to identify socio-economic and health risk profiles among mothers of young children predicting longitudinal risk of food insecurity. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(8), e0272614. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0272614
- [30] Dohmen, T., Falk, A., Huffman, D., Sunde, U., Schupp, J., & Wagner, G. G. (2011). INDIVIDUAL RISK ATTITUDES: MEASUREMENT, DETERMINANTS, AND BEHAVIORAL CONSEQUENCES. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, *9*(3), 522–550. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-4774.2011.01015.x
- [31] Dohmen, T. J., Quercia, S., & Willrodt, J. (2018). Willingness to take risk: The role of risk conception and optimism. IZA Discussion Paper No. 11642. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3209739

- [32] Dong, H.-K. D. (2017). Individual Risk Preference and Sector Choice: Are Risk-Averse Individuals More Likely to Choose Careers in the Public Sector? *Administration & Society*, 49(8), 1121–1142. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399714556500
- [33] Dreber, A., Rand, D. G., Wernerfelt, N., Garcia, J. R., Vilar, M. G., Lum, J. K., & Zeckhauser, R. (2011). Dopamine and risk choices in different domains: Findings among serious tournament bridge players. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, *43*(1), 19–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11166-011-9119-z
- [34] Dryhurst, S., Schneider, C. R., Kerr, J., Freeman, A. L. J., Recchia, G., Van Der Bles, A. M., Spiegelhalter, D., & Van Der Linden, S. (2020). Risk perceptions of COVID-19 around the world. *Journal of Risk Research*, 23(7–8), 994–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2020.1758193
- [35] Dulam, R., Furuta, K., & Kanno, T. (2021). Consumer Panic Buying: Realizing Its Consequences and Repercussions on the Supply Chain. *Sustainability*, *13*(8), 4370. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084370
- [36] Eckel, C. (2019). Measuring individual risk preferences. IZA World of Labor 2019: 454 https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.454
- [37] Eckel, C. C., & Grossman, P. J. (2008). Forecasting risk attitudes: An experimental study using actual and forecast gamble choices. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 68(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2008.04.006
- [38] Fafchamps, M. (2011). Risk sharing between households. *Handbook of social economics*, 1, 1255-1279. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53707-2.00007-4
- [39] Feltz, A. (2016). Financial Surrogate Decision Making: Lessons from Applied Experimental Philosophy. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, *19*, E56. https://doi.org/10.1017/sjp.2016.54
- [40] Ferrer, R. A., & Klein, W. M. (2015). Risk perceptions and health behavior. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *5*, 85–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.03.012
- [41] Figner, B., Mackinlay, R. J., Wilkening, F., & Weber, E. U. (n.d.). Affective and Deliberative Processes in Risky Choice: Age Differences in Risk Taking in the Columbia Card Task. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 35(3), 709. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014983
- [42] Filippin, A. (2022). Gender differences in risk attitudes. IZA World of Labor. https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.100.v2
- [43] Filiz, I., Nahmer, T., Spiwoks, M., & Gubaydullina, Z. (2020). Measurement of risk preference. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, *27*, 100355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbef.2020.100355
- [44] Fossen, F. M., König, J., & Schröder, C. (2024). Risk preference and entrepreneurial investment at the top of the wealth distribution. *Empirical Economics*, 66(2), 735–761. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00181-023-02475-x
- [45] Frey, R., Richter, D., Schupp, J., Hertwig, R., & Mata, R. (2021). Identifying robust correlates of risk preference: A systematic approach using specification curve analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 120(2), 538. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000287
- [46] Galesic, M., & Garcia-Retamero, R. (2010). Statistical numeracy for health: a cross-cultural comparison with probabilistic national samples. *Archives of internal medicine*, *170*(5), 462-468. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2009.481

- [47] Gao, X. S., Harrison, G. W., & Tchernis, R. (2020). Estimating risk preferences for individuals: A bayesian approach. Technical report, Center for the Economic Analysis of Risk, Robinson College of Business, Georgia State University.
- [48] Gao, X. S., Harrison, G. W., & Tchernis, R. (2023). Behavioral welfare economics and risk preferences: A Bayesian approach. *Experimental Economics*, *26*(2), 273–303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10683-022-09751-0
- [49] Garcia-Retamero, R., & Cokely, E. T. (2013). Communicating health risks with visual aids. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 22(5), 392-399. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413491570
- [50] Geng, L., Liu, T., Zhou, K., & Yang, G. (2018). Can power affect environmental risk attitude toward nuclear energy? *Energy Policy*, 113, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.10.051
- [51] Gerrard, M., Gibbons, F. X., Benthin, A. C., & Hessling, R. M. (1996). A longitudinal study of the reciprocal nature of risk behaviors and cognitions in adolescents: what you do shapes what you think, and vice versa. Health psychology, 15(5), 344. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.15.5.344
- [52] Gneezy, U., & Potters, J. (1997). An Experiment on Risk Taking and Evaluation Periods. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 112(2), 631–645. https://doi.org/10.1162/003355397555217
- [53] Goodman, L. A. (1974). The analysis of systems of qualitative variables when some of the variables are unobservable. Part IA modified latent structure approach. *American Journal of Sociology*, 79(5), 1179-1259. https://doi.org/10.1086/225676
- [54] Greenberg, M., & Kocakusak, D. (2022). Risk-benefit perceptions, preferences for solutions, and gaining trust: Listening to New Jersey's Atlantic Ocean port communities. *Risk Analysis*, 42(11), 2593-2606. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.13973
- [55] Gu, R., Zhang, D., Luo, Y., Wang, H., & Broster, L. S. (2018). Predicting risk decisions in a modified Balloon Analogue Risk Task: Conventional and single-trial ERP analyses. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience*, 18(1), 99–116. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13415-017-0555-3
- [56] Harrison, G. W., Lau, M. I., Rutstrom, E. E., & Tarazona-Gomez, M. (2013). Preferences over social risk. *Oxford Economic Papers*, 65(1), 25–46. https://doi.org/10.1093/oep/gps021
- [57] Hellerstein, D., Higgins, N., & Horowitz, J. (2013). The predictive power of risk preference measures for farming decisions. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 40(5), 807–833. https://doi.org/10.1093/erae/jbs043
- [58] Hertwig, R., Wulff, D. U., & Mata, R. (2019). Three gaps and what they may mean for risk preference. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 374(1766), 20180140. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2018.0140
- [59] Ho, M., Shaw, D., Lin, S., & Chiu, Y. (2008). How Do Disaster Characteristics Influence Risk Perception? *Risk Analysis*, *28*(3), 635–643. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2008.01040.x
- [60] Holden, S. T., & Tilahun, M. (2022). Endowment effects in the risky investment game? *Theory and Decision*, 92(1), 259–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11238-021-09821-4
- [61] Holt, C. A., & Laury, S. K. (2002). *Risk Aversion and Incentive Effects. American economic review, 92(5), 1644-1655.* https://doi.org/10.1257/000282802762024700

- [62] International Organization for Standardization https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:31000:ed-2:v1:en
- [63] Janmaimool, P., & Watanabe, T. (2014). Evaluating determinants of environmental risk perception for risk management in contaminated sites. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(6), 6291-6313. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110606291
- [64] Jaspersen, J. G., Ragin, M. A., & Sydnor, J. R. (2020). Linking subjective and incentivized risk attitudes: The importance of losses. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, 60(2), 187–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11166-020-09327-4
- [65] Kannan, H., Mesmer, B. L., & Bloebaum, C. L. (2020). Incorporation of risk preferences in a value-based systems engineering framework. Systems Engineering, 23(2), 237–257. https://doi.org/10.1002/sys.21529
- [66] Kasperson, R. E., Renn, O., Slovic, P., Brown, H. S., Emel, J., Goble, R., Kasperson, J. X., & Ratick, S. (1988). The social amplification of risk: A conceptual framework. *Risk analysis*, 8(2), 177-187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.1988.tb01168.x
- [67] Kassas, B., Morgan, S. N., Lai, J. H., Kropp, J. D., & Gao, Z. (2021). Perception versus preference: The role of self-assessed risk measures on individual mitigation behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(8), e0254756. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254756
- [68] Khan, M. G., Johar, F., & Baba, A. N. (2017). Disaster management risk perception of local communities. Jurnal Kemanusiaan, 15(1). Retrieved from https://jurnalkemanusiaan.utm.my/index.php/kemanusiaan/article/view/120
- [69] Kirby, A. (1990). Nothing to fear: risks and hazards in American society. Tucson: University of Arizona Press.
- [70] Klinenberg, E. (1999). Denaturalizing disaster: A social autopsy of the 1995 Chicago heat wave. Theory and society, 28(2), 239-295. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3108472
- [71] Kon, A. A., Davidson, J. E., Morrison, W., Danis, M., & White, D. B. (2016). Shared Decision-Making in Intensive Care Units. Executive Summary of the American College of Critical Care Medicine and American Thoracic Society Policy Statement. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 193(12), 1334–1336. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201602-0269ED
- [72] Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2002). Designing and conducting focus group interviews (Vol. 18).
- [73] Kummeneje, A.-M., & Rundmo, T. (2020). Attitudes, risk perception and risk-taking behaviour among regular cyclists in Norway. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 69, 135–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2020.01.007
- [74] Law, W. H. C., Yoshino, S., Fong, C. Y., & Koike, S. (2022). Younger adults tolerate more relational risks in everyday life as revealed by the general risk-taking questionnaire. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 12184. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-16438-2
- [75] Lejuez, C. W., Read, J. P., Kahler, C. W., Richards, J. B., Ramsey, S. E., Stuart, G. L., Strong, D. R., & Brown, R. A. (2002). Evaluation of a behavioral measure of risk taking: The Balloon Analogue Risk Task (BART). *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 8(2), 75–84. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-898X.8.2.75
- [76] Levin, J., & Milgrom, P. (2004). Introduction to choice theory.

- [77] Lindell, M. K., & Hwang, S. N. (2008). Household's perceived personal risk and responses in a multihazard environment. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, *28*(2), 539-556. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2008.01032.x
- [78] Lindell, M. K., & Perry, R. W. (2012). The protective action decision model: Theoretical modifications and additional evidence. Risk Analysis: An International Journal, 32(4), 616-632. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2011.01647.x
- [79] Lindell, M. K., & Prater, C. S. (2002). Risk area resident's perceptions and adoption of seismic hazard adjustments 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 32(11), 2377-2392. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb01868.x
- [80] Liu, J., Cui, Z., Yang, X., & Skitmore, M. (2018). Experimental Investigation of the Impact of Risk Preference on Construction Bid Markups. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 34(3), 04018003. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000596
- [81] Lopes, L. L. (1987). Between hope and fear: The psychology of risk. In *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 20, pp. 255-295). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60416-5
- [82] Lusk, J. L., & Coble, K. H. (2005). Risk Perceptions, Risk Preference, and Acceptance of Risky Food. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 87(2), 393–405. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8276.2005.00730.x
- [83] Ma, Z., Zhou, W., Deng, X., & Xu, D. (2023). Community Disaster Resilience and Risk Perception in Earthquake-Stricken Areas of China. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness*, 17, e74. https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2021.342
- [84] Maart-Noelck, S. C., & Musshoff, O. (2014). Measuring the risk attitude of decision-makers: Are there differences between groups of methods and persons? *Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, *58*(3), 336–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8489.2012.00620.x
- [85] Maier, J., & Rüger, M. (2010). *Measuring Risk Aversion Model-Independently*. https://doi.org/10.5282/UBM/EPUB.11873
- [86] March, J. G., & Shapira, Z. (1992). Variable risk preferences and the focus of attention. Psychological review, 99(1), 172. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.99.1.172
- [87] Marks, P., Gerrits, L., & Marx, J. (2019). How to use fitness landscape models for the analysis of collective decision-making: a case of theory-transfer and its limitations. *Biology & Philosophy*, 34(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10539-018-9669-4
- [88] Marynissen, H., Ladkin, D., Denyer, D., Snoeijers, E., & Van Achte, T. (2013). The Role of Individual Risk Perception in an Organization Managing High Risks. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2322816
- [89] Masclet, D., Colombier, N., Denant-Boemont, L., & Lohéac, Y. (2009). Group and individual risk preferences: A lottery-choice experiment with self-employed and salaried workers. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 70(3), 470–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2007.11.002
- [90] Mata, R., Frey, R., Richter, D., Schupp, J., & Hertwig, R. (2018). Risk Preference: A View from Psychology. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *32*(2), 155–172. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.32.2.155

- [91] Megías, A., Cándido, A., Catena, A., Molinero, S., & Maldonado, A. (2014). The Passenger Effect: Risky Driving is a Function of the Driver-Passenger Emotional Relationship. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 28(2), 254–258. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.2989
- [92] Menapace, L., Colson, G., & Raffaelli, R. (2013). Risk Aversion, Subjective Beliefs, and Farmer Risk Management Strategies. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 95(2), 384–389. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajae/aas107
- [93] Miller, A. S., & Stark, R. (2002). Gender and Religiousness: Can Socialization Explanations Be Saved? *American Journal of Sociology*, *107*(6), 1399–1423. https://doi.org/10.1086/342557
- [94] Mills, B., Reyna, V. F., & Estrada, S. (2008). Explaining contradictory relations between risk perception and risk taking. *Psychological science*, *19*(5), 429-433. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02104.x
- [95] Mirbagheri, S. M., Rafiei Atani, A. O., & Parsanejad, M. (2023). The Effect of Collective Decision-Making on Productivity: A Structural Equation Modeling. *SAGE Open*, *13*(4), 21582440231219046. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440231219046
- [96] Motet, G. (2009). La norme ISO 31000 en 10 questions. Cahiers de la Sécurité Industrielle 2009-05, Fondation pour une Culture de Sécurité Industrielle, Toulouse, France. ISSN 2100-3874. Available at http://www.foncsi.org/
- [97] NIST (2023). Artificial Intelligence Risk Management Framework (AI RMF 1.0). https://doi.org/10.6028/NIST.AI.100-1
- [98] Noël, C., Vanroelen, C., & Gadeyne, S. (2021). Qualitative research about public health risk perceptions on ambient air pollution. A review study. *SSM Population Health*, *15*, 100879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100879
- [99] Olbrich, R., Quaas, M. F., Haensler, A., & Baumgärtner, S. (2012). Risk preferences under heterogeneous environmental risk. Available at SSRN 1904315. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1904315
- [100] Outreville, J. F. (1998). The Meaning of Risk. In J. F. Outreville, *Theory and Practice of Insurance* (pp. 1–12). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-6187-3 1
- [101] Paton, D. (2019). Disaster risk reduction: Psychological perspectives on preparedness. *Australian journal of psychology*, *71*(4), 327-341. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajpy.12237
- [102] Paton, D., & Johnston, D. (2001). Disasters and communities: vulnerability, resilience and preparedness. *Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal*, 10(4), 270-277. https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM0000000005930
- [103] Pratt, J. W. (1978). Risk aversion in the small and in the large. In *Uncertainty in economics* (pp. 59-79). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-214850-7.50010-3.
- [104] Putman, D. (2019). Risk Preferences and Risk Pooling in Networks: Theory and Evidence from Community Detection in Ghana. https://cega.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Putman_PacDev2020.pdf
- [105] Qualls, W. J., & Puto, C. P. (1989). Organizational climate and decision framing an integrated approach to analyzing industrial buying decisions. Journal of Marketing Research, 26(2), 179-192. https://doi.org/10.2307/3172604

- [106] Raub, W., & Snijders, C. (1997). Gains, losses, and cooperation in social dilemmas and collective action: The effects of risk preferences. *The Journal of Mathematical Sociology*, 22(3), 263–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/0022250X.1997.9990204
- [107] Řehák, D., & Šenovský, P. (2014). Preference risk assessment of electric power critical infrastructure. Chemical Engineering Transactions, 36. https://doi.org/10.3303/CET1436079
- [108] Reniers, R. L. E. P., Murphy, L., Lin, A., Bartolomé, S. P., & Wood, S. J. (2016). Risk Perception and Risk-Taking Behaviour during Adolescence: The Influence of Personality and Gender. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(4), e0153842. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0153842
- [109] Reyna, V. F., & Farley, F. (2006). Risk and Rationality in Adolescent Decision Making: Implications for Theory, Practice, and Public Policy. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 7(1), 1–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-1006.2006.00026.x
- [110] Rigdon, M. L., Said, F., & Vecci, J. (2023). An Overview of Risk Preferences in Developing Countries., in press, Handbook of Experimental Development Economics.
- [111] Rosa, E. A. (2003). The logical structure of the social amplification of risk framework (SARF): Metatheoretical foundations and policy implications. *The social amplification of risk*, 47, 47-49. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511550461
- [112] Rosi, A., Van Vugt, F. T., Lecce, S., Ceccato, I., Vallarino, M., Rapisarda, F., Vecchi, T., & Cavallini, E. (2021). Risk Perception in a Real-World Situation (COVID-19): How It Changes From 18 to 87 Years Old. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 646558. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.646558
- [113] Roszkowski, M. J., & Davey, G. (2010). Risk perception and risk tolerance changes attributable to the 2008 economic crisis: A subtle but critical difference. Journal of financial service professionals, 64(4), 42-53.
- [114] Roth, L. M., & Kroll, J. C. (2007). Risky Business: Assessing Risk Preference Explanations for Gender Differences in Religiosity. *American Sociological Review*, 72(2), 205–220. https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240707200204
- [115] Sánchez-López, M. T., Fernández-Berrocal, P., Gómez-Leal, R., & Megías-Robles, A. (2022). Evidence on the Relationship Between Emotional Intelligence and Risk Behavior: A Systematic and Meta-Analytic Review. Frontiers in Psychology, 13, 810012. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.810012
- [116] Schroeder, T. C., Tonsor, G. T., Pennings, J. M. E., & Mintert, J. (2007). Consumer Food Safety Risk Perceptions and Attitudes: Impacts on Beef Consumption across Countries. *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.2202/1935-1682.1848
- [117] Scolobig, A., Thompson, M., & Linnerooth-Bayer, J. (2016). Compromise not consensus: designing a participatory process for landslide risk mitigation. Natural Hazards, 81, 45-68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-015-2078-y
- [118] Siegrist, M., Keller, C., & Kiers, H. A. (2005). A new look at the psychometric paradigm of perception of hazards. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, *25*(1), 211-222. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0272-4332.2005.00580.x
- [119] Shalowitz, D. I., Garrett-Mayer, E., & Wendler, D. (2006). The accuracy of surrogate decision makers: a systematic review. *Archives of internal medicine*, *166*(5), 493-497. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.5.493

- [120] Shepherd, A., Jepson, R., Watterson, A., & Evans, J. M. M. (2012). Risk Perceptions of Environmental Hazards and Human Reproduction: A Community-Based Survey. *ISRN Public Health*, 2012, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/748080
- [121] Shupp, R. S., & Williams, A. W. (2008). Risk Preference Differentials of Small Groups and Individuals. *The Economic Journal*, 118(525), 258–283. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2007.02112.x
- [122] Silveira, M. J., & Langa, K. M. (2010). Advance Directives and Outcomes of Surrogate Decision Making before Death. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. 362(13), 1211-1218. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa0907901
- [123] Sitkin, S. B., & Pablo, A. L. (1992). Reconceptualizing the determinants of risk behavior. Academy of management review, 17(1), 9-38. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1992.4279564
- [124] Sjöberg, L., Moen, B. E., & Rundmo, T. (2004). Explaining risk perception. An evaluation of the psychometric paradigm in risk perception research, 10(2), 665-612.
- [125] Slovic, P., & Weber, E. U. (2002). Perception of Risk Posed by Extreme Events. Science.
- [126] Smith, A. B. (2018). NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information (NCEI). US Billion-Dollar Weather and Climate Disasters. https://doi.org/10.25921/stkw-7w73
- [127] Society of Risk Analysis glossary. https://www.sra.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/SRA-Glossary-FINAL.pdf
- [128] Šotić, A., & Rajić, R. (2015). The review of the definition of risk. Online Journal of Applied Knowledge Management, 3(3), 17-26.
- [129] Tepe, M., & Prokop, C. (2018). Are Future Bureaucrats More Risk Averse? The Effect of Studying Public Administration and PSM on Risk Preferences. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 28(2), 182–196. https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/muy007
- [130] Terumoto, K. (2006). Issues and attitudes of local government officials for flood risk management. A Better Integrated Management of Disaster Risks: Toward Resilient Society to Emerging Disaster Risks in Mega-cities, ed. S Ikeda, T Fukuzono, and T Sato, 165-176.
- [131] Texas A&M University, USA, & Eckel, C. C. (2019). Measuring individual risk preferences. *IZA World of Labor*. https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.454
- [132] Tonsor, G. T., Schroeder, T. C., & Pennings, J. M. E. (2009). Factors Impacting Food Safety Risk Perceptions. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 60(3), 625–644. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-9552.2009.00209.x
- [133] Trueblood, J. S., Sussman, A. B., & O'Leary, D. (2022). The Role of Risk Preferences in Responses to Messaging About COVID-19 Vaccine Take-Up. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *13*(1), 311–319. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550621999622
- [134] Tsoy, D., Tirasawasdichai, T., & Ivanovich Kurpayanidi, K. (2021). Role of Social Media in Shaping Public Risk Perception during COVID-19 Pandemic: A Theoretical Review. *THE INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT SCIENCE AND BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION*, 7(2), 35–41. https://doi.org/10.18775/ijmsba.1849-5664-5419.2014.72.1005
- [135] Tsutsui, Y., & Tsutsui-Kimura, I. (2022). How does risk preference change under the stress of COVID-19? Evidence from Japan. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, 64(2), 191–212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11166-022-09374-z

- [136] United States Environmental protection agency https://www.epa.gov/risk/about-risk-assessment
- [137] van Niekerk, D. (2011). Introduction to disaster risk reduction. USAID.

 https://www.preventionweb.net/files/26081 kp1concepdisasterrisk1.pdf?startDownload=
 true
- [138] Van Knippenberg, D., Van Knippenberg, B., & Van Dijk, E. (2000). Who Takes the Lead in Risky Decision Making? Effects of Group Member's Risk Preferences and Prototypicality. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 83(2), 213–234. https://doi.org/10.1006/obhd.2000.2907
- [139] Vermunt, J. K., & Magidson, J. (2004). Latent class analysis. *The sage encyclopedia of social sciences research methods*, *2*, 549-553.
- [140] Viklund, M. (2004). Energy policy options—From the perspective of public attitudes and risk perceptions. *Energy Policy*, *32*(10), 1159–1171. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4215(03)00079-X
- [141] Weber, E. U. (2010). Risk attitude and preference. *WIREs Cognitive Science*, 1(1), 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.5
- [142] Weber, E. U. (2017). Understanding Public Risk Perception and Responses to Changes in Perceived Risk. In E. J. Balleisen, L. S. Bennear, K. D. Krawiec, & J. B. Wiener (Eds.), *Policy Shock* (1st ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316492635.004
- [143] Weber, E. U., & Hsee, C. K. (1999). Models and mosaics: Investigating cross-cultural differences in risk perception and risk preference. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, *6*(4), 611–617. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03212969
- [144] Weber, E. U., & Milliman, R. A. (1997). Perceived risk attitudes: Relating risk perception to risky choice. *Management science*, *43*(2), 123-144. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.43.2.123
- [145] Werner, J. (2008). Risk Aversion. In Palgrave Macmillan (Ed.), *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics* (pp. 1–6). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-349-95121-5 2741-1
- [146] Wilson, R. S., Zwickle, A., & Walpole, H. (2019). Developing a Broadly Applicable Measure of Risk Perception. *Risk Analysis*, *39*(4), 777–791. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.13207
- [147] Yates, J. (1992). Risk-taking behavior. John Wiley & Sons.
- [148] Zhang, P., & Palma, M. A. (2021). Do Risk Preferences Change During COVID-19? Comparisons between Pre and On-Pandemic Parallel Experiments. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3849536
- [149] Zhang, X., Liu, Y., Chen, X., Shang, X., & Liu, Y. (2017). Decisions for others are less risk-averse in the gain frame and less risk-seeking in the loss frame than decisions for the self. Frontiers in Psychology, 8, 1601.
- [150] Zhong, Y., Liu, W., Lee, T.-Y., Zhao, H., & Ji, J. (2021). Risk perception, knowledge, information sources and emotional states among COVID-19 patients in Wuhan, China. *Nursing Outlook*, *69*(1), 13–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2020.08.005
- [151] Ziegler, F. V., & Tunney, R. J. (2015). Who's been framed? Framing effects are reduced in financial gambles made for others. *BMC Psychology*, *3*(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-015-0067-2

[152] Zou, X., Scholer, A. A., & Higgins, E. T. (2020). Risk preference: How decision maker's goal, current value state, and choice set work together. *Psychological Review*, 127(1), 74–94. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000162

Appendix A. Domain-Specific Risk-Taking (DOSPERT)

The DOSPERT scale consists of 30 items divided into six domains: Financial (F), Health/Safety (H/S), Recreational (R), Ethical (E), Social and Gambling (S). For each of the questions listed below, the participant is asked to indicate the likelihood of engaging in the described activity or behavior, between a range from extremely likely to extremely unlikely. The complete set of questions in DOSPERT is as follows:

- 1. Admitting that your tastes are different from those of a friend. (S)
- 2. Going camping in the wilderness. (R)
- 3. Betting a day's income at the horse races. (F)
- 4. Investing 10% of your annual income in a moderate growth mutual fund. (F)
- 5. Drinking heavily at a social function. (H/S)
- 6. Taking some questionable deductions on your income tax return. (E)
- 7. Disagreeing with an authority figure on a major issue. (S)
- 8. Betting a day's income at a high-stake poker game. (F)
- 9. Having an affair with a married man/woman. (E)
- 10. Passing off somebody else's work as your own. (E)
- 11. Going down a ski run that is beyond your ability. (R)
- 12. Investing 5% of your annual income in a very speculative stock. (F)
- 13. Going whitewater rafting at high water in the spring. (R)
- 14. Betting a day's income on the outcome of a sporting event (F)
- 15. Engaging in unprotected sex. (H/S)
- 16. Revealing a friend's secret to someone else. (E)
- 17. Driving a car without wearing a seat belt. (H/S)
- 18. Investing 10% of your annual income in a new business venture. (F)
- 19. Taking a skydiving class. (R)
- 20. Riding a motorcycle without a helmet. (H/S)

- 21. Choosing a career that you truly enjoy over a more secure one.
- 22. Speaking your mind about an unpopular issue in a meeting at work. (S)
- 23. Sunbathing without sunscreen. (H/S)
- 24. Bungee jumping off a tall bridge. (R)
- 25. Piloting a small plane. (R)
- 26. Walking home alone at night in an unsafe area of town. (H/S)
- 27. Moving to a city far away from your extended family. (S)
- 28. Starting a new career in your mid-thirties. (S)
- 29. Leaving your young children alone at home while running an errand. (E)
- 30. Not returning a wallet you found that contains \$200. (E)
- Note. E = Ethical, F = Financial, H/S = Health/Safety, R = Recreational, and S = Social.